
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

1/53

DELTA REPORT
10-Q
ONFO - ONFOLIO HOLDINGS, INC

10-Q - SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 COMPARED TO 10-Q - JUNE 30, 2023

TOTAL DELTAS 568

CHANGES 189
DELETIONS 179
ADDITIONS 200

REFINITIV

The following comparison report has been automatically generated

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

2/53

 

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

 

FORM 10-Q
 

(Mark One)

 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023

 

OR

 

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 

For the transition period from _________to ___________

 

Commission File Number: 001-41466

 

ONFOLIO HOLDINGS INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

 

Delaware   37-1978697

(State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)
 

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

   

1007 North Orange Street, 4th Floor, Wilmington,

Delaware
 

19801

(Address of principal executive offices)   (Zip Code)

 

(682) 990-6920

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

 

Title of each class
 

Trading Symbol(s)
 

Name of each exchange on which

registered

Common stock, $0.001 par value   ONFO   Nasdaq Capital Market

Warrants To Purchase Common Stock   ONFOW   Nasdaq Capital Market

 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

3/53

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to

such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒   No ☐

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule

405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to

submit such files). Yes ☒   No ☐

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company

or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging

growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

    Emerging growth company ☒

 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with

any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐   No ☒

 

Number of common stock outstanding as of August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 was 5,110,195.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, such as

statements about our plans, objectives, expectations, assumptions or future events. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements

by terminology such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “continuing,” “ongoing,” “expect,” “we believe,” “we intend,” “may,” “should,” “will,”

“could” and similar expressions denoting uncertainty or an action that may, will or is expected to occur in the future. These statements involve

estimates, assumptions, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any

future results, performances or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on

these forward-looking statements.

 

Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

 

  ● the anticipated timing of the development of future products;products or services;
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  ● projections of costs, revenue, earnings, capital structure and other financial items;

  ● statements of our plans and objectives;

  ● statements regarding the capabilities of our business operations;

  ● statements of expected future economic performance;

  ● statements regarding competition in our market; and

  ● assumptions underlying statements regarding us or our business.

 

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs,

expectations, and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the

economy and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks

and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Our actual results and financial condition

may differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking

statements. Important factors that could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-

looking statements include, among others, the following:

 

 
●

 

our ability to manage our current and projected financial position and estimated cash burn rate, including our estimates regarding

expenses, future revenues and capital requirements, and ultimately our ability to continue as a going concern;

 
●

 

our ability to raise additional capital or additional funding to further develop and expand our business to meet our long-term business

objectives. We have limited revenues and we cannot predict when or if we will achieve significant revenues and sustained profitability;

  ● our ability to achieve significant revenues and sustained profitability;

  ● changes in customer demand;

  ● our ability to develop our brands cost-effectively, to attract new customers and retain customers on a cost-effective basis;

  ● our ability to compete in the markets in which our website participate;

  ● our ability to make strategic actions, including acquisitions and dispositions and our success in integrating acquired businesses;

  ● our ability to continue to successfully manage our websites on a combined basis;

  ● security breaches, cybersecurity attacks and other significant disruptions in our information technology systems;

 
● developments and changes in laws and regulations, including increased regulation of our industry through legislative action and

revised rules and standards;

  ● the occurrence of hostilities, political instability or catastrophic events;events and wars;

 
● Our ability to maintain the occurrencelisting or trading of a pandemicour common stock and itswarrants on the NASDAQ Capital

Market and the potential impact on our business; and business if we fail to do so;

 
● natural events such as severe weather, fires, floods and earthquakes, or man-made or other disruptions of our operating systems,

structures or equipment;

3
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  ● other risks to which our Company is subject; and

  ● other factors beyond the Company’s control.

 

The ultimate correctness of these forward-looking statements depends upon a number of known and unknown risks and events. We discuss our

known material risks under Part I Item 1.A “Risk Factors” contained in our Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

2022. Many factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements. In addition, we cannot assess the

impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially

from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

6/53

 

The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and, except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to

update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the

occurrence of unanticipated events.
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ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

 

Onfolio Holdings Inc.

Onfolio Holdings, Inc. Onfolio Holdings, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)

  June 30   December 31     September 30   December 31  

  2023     2022     2023     2022  

Assets                    

                   

Current Assets:                    

Cash and cash equivalents   4,052,355   6,701,122     $ 3,373,178   $ 6,701,122  

Accounts receivable, net   106,357   137,598     97,522   137,598  

Inventory   117,983   105,129     114,492   105,129  

Prepaids and other current assets     164,389       212,180       121,557       212,180  

Total Current Assets   4,441,084   7,156,029     3,706,749   7,156,029  

                   

Intangible assets   4,185,362   3,864,618     3,280,243   3,864,618  

Goodwill   4,243,718   4,209,126     1,165,636   4,209,126  

Due from related party   129,526   111,720     156,952   111,720  

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures, cost method   154,007   154,007     154,007   154,007  

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures, equity method     277,155       280,326       274,774       280,326  

                   

Total Assets   $ 13,430,852     $ 15,775,826     $ 8,738,361     $ 15,775,826  

                   

Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity                    

                   

Current Liabilities:                    

Accounts payable and other current liabilities   $ 352,223   $ 550,454     $ 431,189   $ 550,454  

Dividends payable   46,620   54,404     49,341   54,404  

Acquisition notes payable   2,416,323   2,456,323     2,416,323   2,456,323  

Notes payable   19,215   68,959     -   68,959  

Contingent consideration   60,000   60,000     60,000   60,000  
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Deferred revenue     247,322       113,251       228,960       113,251  

Total Current Liabilities   3,141,703   3,303,391     3,185,813   3,303,391  

                   

Total Liabilities     3,141,703       3,303,391       3,185,813       3,303,391  

                   

Commitments and Contingencies                    

                   

Stockholders' Equity:                    

Preferred stock, $0.001 per value, 5,000,000 shares authorized                    

Series A Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized,

69,660 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022;
 

70
 

70
 

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized,

5,110,195 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31,

2022;

 

5,110

 

5,110

 

Series A Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized,

69,660 issued and outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December 31,

2022;

 

70

 

70

 

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized,

5,110,195 issued and outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December

31, 2022;

 

5,110

 

5,110

 

Additional paid-in capital   20,434,371   19,950,774     20,520,807   19,950,774  

Accumulated other comprehensive income   109,557   96,971     73,910   96,971  

Accumulated deficit     (10,259,959 )     (7,580,490 )     (15,047,349 )     (7,580,490 )
Total Stockholders' Equity     10,289,149       12,472,435       5,552,548       12,472,435  

         

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   $ 13,430,852     $ 15,775,826     $ 8,738,361     $ 15,775,826  

                   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements
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Onfolio Holdings Inc.
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For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
 

For the Six Months Ended

June 30,
   

For the Three Months Ended

September 30,
 

For the Nine Months Ended

September 30,
 

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

                                   

Revenue,

services
 
$ 295,750

 
$ 68,143

 
$ 688,151

 
$ 186,130

   
$ 433,490

 
$ 59,032

 
$ 1,121,641

 
$ 245,162

 

Revenue,

product sales
   

1,014,293
     

289,679
     

1,973,626
     

557,615
     

879,821
     

293,268
     

2,853,447
     

850,883
 

Total

Revenue
 

1,310,043
 

357,822
 

2,661,777
 

743,745
   

1,313,311
 

352,300
 

3,975,088
 

1,096,046
 

                                   

Cost of

revenue,

services

 

129,622

 

55,416

 

433,786

 

183,755

   

218,063

 

100,961

 

651,849

 

284,716

 

Cost of

revenue,

product sales

   

364,850
     

152,697
     

669,207
     

249,127
     

247,533
     

115,883
     

916,740
     

365,010
 

Total cost of

revenue
 

494,472
 

208,113
 

1,102,993
 

432,882
   

465,596
 

216,844
 

1,568,589
 

649,726
 

                                   

Gross profit     815,571       149,710       1,558,784       310,863       847,715       135,457       2,406,499       446,320  

                                   

Operating

expenses
                                   

Selling,

general and

administrative

 

1,572,825

 

1,035,463

 

3,192,205

 

1,769,753

   

1,532,152

 

974,998

 

4,724,357

 

2,744,751

 

Professional

fees
 

303,443
 

161,751
 

627,828
 

268,383
   

216,082
 

148,649
 

843,910
 

417,032
 

Impairment of

intangible

assets

 

189,937

 

-

 

189,937

 

-

   

3,762,579

 

-

 

3,952,516

 

-

 

Acquisition

costs
   

57,393
     

163,307
     

208,007
     

240,468
     

77,525
     

-
     

285,532
     

240,468
 

Total

operating

expenses

   

2,123,598
     

1,360,521
     

4,217,977
     

2,278,604
     

5,588,338
     

1,123,647
     

9,806,315
     

3,402,251
 

                                   

Loss from

operations
   

(1,308,027 )
   

(1,210,811 )
   

(2,659,193 )
   

(1,967,741 )
   

(4,740,623 )
   

(988,190 )
   

(7,399,816 )
   

(2,955,931 )
                                   

Other

income

(expense)
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Equity

method

income

 

5,207

 

6,309

 

12,095

 

16,488

   

2,826

 

9,568

 

14,921

 

26,056

 

Dividend

income
 

247
 

1,333
 

1,516
 

1,718
   

94
 

574
 

1,610
 

2,292
 

Interest

income

(expense), net

 

2,626

 

1,144

 

58,758

 

(1,256 )

 

10,231

 

(2,739 )

 

68,989

 

(3,995 )
Other income   5,822   1,354   8,624   1,354     (5,687 )   11,091   2,937   12,445  

Impairment of

investments
 

-
 

(29,557 )
 

-
 

(29,557 )
 

-
 

-
 

-
 

(29,557 )
Loss on sale

of asset
   

-
     

(34,306 )
   

-
     

(34,306 )
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

(34,306 )
Total other

income
   

13,902
     

(53,723 )
   

80,993
     

(45,559 )
   

7,464
     

18,494
     

88,457
     

(27,065 )
                                   

Loss before

income

taxes

 

(1,294,125 )

 

(1,264,534 )

 

(2,578,200 )

 

(2,013,300 )

 

(4,733,159 )

 

(969,696 )

 

(7,311,359 )

 

(2,982,996 )
                                   

Income tax

(provision)

benefit

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

-

   

-

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

                                                               

Net loss   (1,294,125 )   (1,264,534 )   (2,578,200 )   (2,013,300 )   (4,733,159 )   (969,696 )   (7,311,359 )   (2,982,996 )
                                   

Preferred

Dividends
   

(50,244 )
   

(45,728 )
   

(101,269 )
   

(88,848 )
   

(54,231 )
   

-
     

(155,500 )
   

(88,848 )
Net loss to

common

shareholders

 

$ (1,344,369 )
 

$ (1,310,262 )
 

$ (2,679,469 )
 

$ (2,102,148 )
 

$ (4,787,390 )
 

$ (1,310,262 )
 

$ (7,466,859 )
 

$ (3,071,844 )

                                   

Net loss per

common

shareholder

                                   

Basic and

diluted
 
$ (0.26 )

 
$ (0.56 )

 
$ (0.52 )

 
$ (0.89 )

 
$ (0.94 )

 
$ (0.30 )

 
$ (1.46 )

 
$ (1.15 )

                                   

Weighted

average

shares

outstanding

                                   

Basic and

diluted
   

5,110,195
     

2,355,045
     

5,110,195
     

2,354,560
     

5,110,195
     

3,284,339
     

5,110,195
     

2,675,634
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements   
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Onfolio Holdings, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

For the Nine Months Ended Sept 30, 2023 and 2022

(Unaudited)

                                 

                             Accumulated        

                Additional           Other        

   
Preferred Stock,

$0.001 Par value
   

Common Stock,

$0.001 Par Value
   

Paid-In
   

 Accumulated
   

 Comprehensive
    Stockholders'  

     Shares     Amount      Shares     Amount     Capital      Deficit     Income     Equity  

                                                 

Balance, December

31, 2022
   

69,660
   

$ 70
     

5,110,195
   

$ 5,110
   

$19,950,774
   

$ (7,580,490)
 

$ 96,971
   

$ 12,472,435
 

                                                                 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

233,355
     

-
     

-
     

233,355
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (51,025)     -       (51,025)

Foreign currency

translation
                                                   

(7,481)
   

(7,481)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,284,075)     -       (1,284,075)

                                                                 

Balance, March 31,

2023
   

69,660
     

70
     

5,110,195
     

5,110
     

20,184,129
     

(8,915,590)
   

89,490
     

11,363,209
 

                                                                 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

250,242
     

-
     

-
     

250,242
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (50,244)     -       (50,244)

Foreign currency

translation
                                                   

20,067
     

20,067
 

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,294,125)     -       (1,294,125)

                                                                 

Balance, June 30,

2023
   

69,660
     

70
     

5,110,195
     

5,110
     

20,434,371
     

(10,259,959)
   

109,557
     

10,289,149
 

                                                                 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

86,436
     

-
     

-
     

86,436
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (54,231)     -       (54,231)
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Foreign currency

translation
                                                   

(35,647)
   

(35,647)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (4,733,159)     -       (4,733,159)

                                                                 

Balance, September

30, 2023
   

69,660
   

$ 70
     

5,110,195
   

$ 5,110
   

$20,520,807
   

$ (15,047,349)
 

$ 73,910
   

$ 5,552,548
 

                                                                 

Balance, December

31, 2021
   

56,800
   

$ 57
     

2,353,645
   

$ 2,354
   

$ 6,522,382
   

$ (3,150,988)
 

$ -
   

$ 3,373,805
 

                                                                 

Preferred Shares for

cash
   

5,200
     

5
     

-
     

-
     

129,995
     

-
     

-
     

130,000
 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

1,400
     

1
     

219,659
     

-
     

-
     

219,660
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (43,120)     -       (43,120)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (748,766)     -       (748,766)

                                                                 

Balance, March 31,

2022
   

62,000
     

62
     

2,355,045
     

2,355
     

6,872,036
     

(3,942,874)
   

-
     

2,931,579
 

                                                                 

Preferred Shares for

cash
   

7,460
     

7
     

-
     

-
     

186,493
     

-
     

-
     

186,500
 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

1,400
     

1
     

240,184
     

-
     

-
     

240,185
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (45,728)     -       (45,728)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,264,534)     -       (1,264,534)

                                                                 

Balance, June 30,

2022
   

69,460
     

69
     

2,356,445
     

2,356
     

7,298,713
     

(5,253,136)
   

-
     

2,048,002
 

                                                                 

Preferred Shares for

cash
   

200
     

1
     

-
     

-
     

4,999
     

-
     

-
     

5,000
 

Common Stock

issued – initial public

offering

   

-

     

-

     

2,753,750

     

2,754

     

12,252,716

     

-

     

-

     

12,255,470

 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

247,706
     

-
     

-
     

247,706
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (48,457)     -       (48,457)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (969,696)     -       (1,264,534)

                                                                 

Balance, September

30, 2022
   

69,660
   

$ 70
     

5,110,195
   

$ 5,110
   

$19,804,134
   

$ (6,271,289)
 

$ -
   

$ 2,048,002
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Onfolio Holdings Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(Unaudited)

                                 

    Preferred Stock,

$0.001 Par value
    Common Stock,

$0.001 Par Value
   

Additional

   

 Accumulated

   

 Accumulated

Other  

Comprehensive

   

Stockholders' 

 

   
 Shares

   
Amount

   
 Shares

   
Amount

   
Paid-In

Capital
   

 Deficit
   

Income
   

Equity
 

                                                 

Balance,  December

31, 2022
   

69,660
   

$ 70
     

5,110,195
   

$ 5,110
   

$19,950,774
   

$ (7,580,490)
 

$ 96,971
   

$ 12,472,435
 

                                                                 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

233,355
     

-
     

-
     

233,355
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (51,025)     -       (51,025)

Foreign currency

translation
                                                   

(7,481)
   

(7,481)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,284,075)     -       (1,284,075)

                                                                 

Balance,  March 31,

2023
   

69,660
     

70
     

5,110,195
     

5,110
     

20,184,129
     

(8,915,590)
   

89,490
     

11,363,209
 

                                                                 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

-
     

-
     

250,242
     

-
     

-
     

250,242
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (50,244)     -       (50,244)

Foreign currency

translation
                                                   

20,067
     

20,067
 

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,294,125)     -       (1,294,125)

                                                                 

Balance,  June 30,

2023
   

69,660
   

$ 70
     

5,110,195
   

$ 5,110
   

$20,434,371
   

$ (10,259,959)
 

$ 109,557
   

$ 10,289,149
 

                                                                 

Balance,  December

31, 2021
   

56,800
   

$ 57
     

2,353,645
   

$ 2,354
   

$ 6,522,382
   

$ (3,150,988)
 

$ -
   

$ 3,373,805
 

                                                                 

Preferred Shares for

cash
   

5,200
     

5
     

-
     

-
     

129,995
     

-
     

-
     

130,000
 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

1,400
     

1
     

219,659
     

-
     

-
     

219,660
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Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (43,120)     -       (43,120)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (748,766)     -       (748,766)

                                                                 

Balance,  March 31,

2022
   

62,000
     

62
     

2,355,045
     

2,355
     

6,872,036
     

(3,942,874)
   

-
     

2,931,579
 

                                                                 

Preferred Shares for

cash
   

7,460
     

7
     

-
     

-
     

186,493
     

-
     

-
     

186,500
 

Stock-based

compensation
   

-
     

-
     

1,400
     

1
     

240,184
     

-
     

-
     

240,185
 

Preferred dividends     -       -       -       -       -       (45,728)     -       (45,728)

Net loss     -       -       -       -       -       (1,264,534)     -       (1,264,534)

                                                                 

Balance,  June 30,

2022
   

69,460
   

$ 69
     

2,356,445
   

$ 2,356
   

$ 7,298,713
   

$ (5,253,136)
 

$ -
   

$ 2,048,002
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Onfolio Holdings, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

(Unaudited)

           

    2023     2022  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities            

Net loss   $ (7,311,359)   $ (2,982,996)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                

Stock-based compensation expense     570,033      701,551 

Equity method income     (14,921)     (26,056)

Dividends received from equity method investment     20,473      23,915 

Loss on sale of asset     -       34,306 

Amortization of intangible assets     549,914      -  

Impairment of intangible assets     3,952,516      -  

Net change in:                

Accounts receivable     40,076      (4,491)

Inventory     (9,363)     4,058 

Prepaids and other current assets     90,623      (120,214)

Accounts payable and other current liabilities     (119,265)     39,163 

Due to joint ventures     (45,232)     (26,561)

Deferred revenue     115,709      (21,802)

Due to related parties     -       (480)

                 

Net cash used in operating activities     (2,160,796)     (2,373,607)
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities                

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets     -       45,694 

Cash paid to acquire business     (850,000)     -  

Investments in joint ventures     -       (22,500)

Net cash used in investing activities     (850,000)     23,194 

                 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities                

Proceeds from sale of Series A preferred stock     -       321,500 

Proceeds from sale of common stock             12,255,470 

Payments of preferred dividends     (160,563)     (91,264)

Payment of contribution to joint venture note payable     -       (215,000)

Payments on acquisition note payable     (40,000)     -  

Proceeds from notes payable     -       44,000 

Payments on note payables     (68,959)     (59,228)

                 

Net cash provided by financing activities     (269,522)     12,255,478 

                 

Effect of foreign currency translation     (47,626)     -  

                 

Net Change in Cash     (3,327,944)     9,905,065 

Cash, Beginning of Period     6,701,122      1,710,318 

                 

Cash, End of Period   $ 3,373,178    $ 11,615,383 

                 

Cash Paid For:                

Income Taxes   $ -     $ -  

Interest   $ 61,141    $ 5,493 

                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

 

 
7
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Onfolio Holdings Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(Unaudited)

           

    2023     2022  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities            

Net loss   $ (2,578,200)   $ (2,013,300)
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Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                

Stock-based compensation expense     483,597      459,845 

Equity method income     (12,095)     (16,488)

Dividends received from equity method investment     15,266      17,607 

Loss on sale of asset     -       34,306 

Amortization of intangible assets     361,108      -  

Impairment of intangible assets     189,937      -  

Net change in:                

Accounts receivable     31,241      (23,026)

Inventory     (12,854)     (9,797)

Prepaids and other current assets     47,791      (51,635)

Accounts payable and other current liabilities     (198,231)     72,638 

Due to joint ventures     (17,806)     (31,796)

Deferred revenue     134,071      3,980 

Due to related parties     -       (480)

                 

Net cash used in operating activities     (1,556,175)     (1,558,146)

                 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities                

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets     -       45,694 

Cash paid to acquire business     (850,000)     -  

Investments in joint ventures     -       (22,500)

Net cash used in investing activities     (850,000)     23,194 

                 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities                

Proceeds from sale of Series A preferred stock     -       316,500 

Payments of preferred dividends     (109,053)     (44,995)

Payment of contribution to joint venture note payable     -       (35,000)

Payments on acquisition note payable     (40,000)     -  

Proceeds from notes payable     -       44,000 

Payments on note payables     (49,744)     (31,151)

                 

Net cash provided by financing activities     (198,797)     249,354 

                 

Effect of foreign currency translation     (43,795)     -  

                 

Net Change in Cash     (2,648,767)     (1,285,598)

Cash, Beginning of Period     6,701,122      1,710,318 

                 

Cash, End of Period     4,052,355    $ 424,720 

                 

Cash Paid For:                
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Income Taxes   $ -     $ -  

Interest   $ 18,836    $ 1,256 

                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ONFOLIO HOLDINGS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE SIX NINE MONTHS ENDED JUNESEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022

(UNAUDITED)

 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION

 

Onfolio Holdings, Inc. (“Company”) was incorporated on July 20, 2020 under the laws of Delaware to acquire and development high-growth and

profitable internet businesses. The Company primarily earns revenue through website management, advertising and content placement on its

websites, and product sales on certain sites. The Company owns multiple websites and manages websites on behalf of certain unconsolidated

entities in which it holds equity interests.

 

On July 22, 2020, the Company issued 2,000,000 shares to Dominic Wells, the Company’s CEO in exchange for 100% of the membership interest of

Onfolio LLC. At the time of the transaction, Dominic Wells was the sole owner of both Onfolio LLC and the Company and as such the transaction

was considered a combination of entities under common control under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards

Codification (“ASC”) 805. Onfolio LLC owned and operated several domain names that were recognized on the Company’s balance sheet at

carryover basis in accordance with ASC 805. The results of operations and cash flows of Onfolio LLC are included in the Company’s consolidated

financial statements since the incorporation date of Onfolio LLC in 2019. Onfolio LLC is a Delaware LLC and was formed on May 14, 2019 by the sole

member Dominic Wells.

 

On April 7, 2021 and September 6, 2021, the Company created wholly-owned subsidiaries, Mighty Deals LLC and Onfolio Crafts LLC, respectively, in

the state of Delaware.

 

On November 15, 2021, the Company created a wholly-owned subsidiary, Onfolio Assets, LLC in the state of Delaware.

 

On December 8, 2022, the Company created a wholly-owned subsidiaries WP Folio LLC and Proofread Anywhere LLC in the state of Delaware.

 

On January 20, 2023, the Company created a wholly-owned subsidiary, Contentellect LLC in the state of Delaware.

 

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim information an in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of

Regulation S-X of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31. Certain

information or footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted,

pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC for interim financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes
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necessary for a complete presentation of financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. In the opinion of management, the accompanying

unaudited financial statements include all adjustments, consisting of a normal recurring nature, which are necessary for a fair presentation of the

financial position, operating results and cash flows for the period presented. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements

should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023. The interim results for the

three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending

December 31, 2023 or for any future periods.

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of its wholly owned subsidiaries and other controlled entities. The

Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries are Onfolio LLC, Vital Reaction, LLC, Mighty Deals LLC, Onfolio Assets, LLC, WP Folio, LLC, Proofread

Anywhere, LLC, Contentellect, LLC, SEO Butler Limited and Onfolio Crafts LLC. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in

consolidation.
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Foreign Currency Translation

 

The Company, and its subsidiaries Onfolio LLC, Vital Reaction, LLC, Mighty Deals LLC, Onfolio Assets, LLC, WP Folio, LLC, Proofread Anywhere, LLC,

Contentellect, LLC and Onfolio Crafts LLC, maintain their accounting records in U.S. Dollars. The Company’s operating subsidiary, SEO Butler, is

located in the United Kingdom and maintains its accounting records in Great Britain Pounds, which is its functional currency. Assets and liabilities of

the subsidiary are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates at the balance sheet date, equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rate

and revenues and expenses are translated by using the average exchange rates for the period. Translation adjustments are reported as a separate

component of other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Foreign currency

denominated transactions are translated at exchange rates approximating those in effect at the transaction dates.

 

Investment in Unconsolidated Entities – Equity and Cost Method Investments

 

We account for our interests in entities in which we are able to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, generally 50% or

less ownership interest, under the equity method of accounting. In such cases, our original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted for our

share of earnings, losses and distributions. We account for our interests in entities where we have virtually no influence over operating and

financial policies under the cost method of accounting. In such cases, our original investments are recorded at the cost to acquire the interest and

any distributions received are recorded as income. Our investments in Onfolio JV I, LLC (“JV I”), Onfolio JV II, LLC (“JV II”) and Onfolio JV III, LLC (“JV

III”) are accounted for under the cost method. All investments are subject to our impairment review policy. The Company recognized the value of

its investments in these joint ventures at carryover basis based on the amount paid by the CEO to the joint venture for Onfolio JV 1 LLC, and

agreed to pay the joint venture the contribution for Onfolio JV II LLC and Onfolio JV III LLC at the carryover basis for the amount the interest was

acquired for by the CEO.

 

The current investment in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method consists of a 35.8% interest in Onfolio JV IV, LLC (“JV

IV”), which is involved in the acquisition, development and operation of websites to produce advertisingadverting revenue. The initial value of an

investment in an unconsolidated affiliate accounted for under the equity method is recorded at the fair value of the consideration paid.

 

Variable Interest Entities

 

Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are consolidated when the investor is the primary beneficiary. A primary beneficiary is the variable interest holder

in a VIE with both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and the
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obligation to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Management concluded that the joint

ventures do not qualify as variable interest entities under the requirements of ASC 810, as the joint ventures 1) have sufficient equity to finance its

activities; 2) have equity owners that as a group have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest in the business, through the ability to

vote on a majority basis to change the managing member of the respective joint ventures, and 3) are structured with substantive voting rights. The

Company accounts for its investments in the joint ventures under either the cost or equity method based on the equity ownership in each entity.

 

Use of Estimates

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet. The Company uses

significant judgements when making estimates related to the assessment of control over variable interest entities, valuation of deferred tax assets

and impairment of long lived assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 

Cash and Cash Equivalent

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits with banks and liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or

less.
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Inventories

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

 

Long-lived Assets

 

The Company amortizes acquired definite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not

amortized but subject to annual impairment tests. In accordance with ASC 360 “Property Plant and Equipment,” the Company reviews the carrying

value of intangibles subject to amortization and long-lived assets for impairment throughout the year or whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

 

Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by comparison of its carrying amount to the undiscounted cash flows that the asset or asset group

is expected to generate. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the

carrying amount of the property, if any, exceeds its fair market value.

 

Revenue Recognition

 

The Company follows the guidance of the FASB ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers to all contracts using the modified retrospective

method.

 

Revenue is recognized based on the following five step model:

 

- Identification of the contract with a customer
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- Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

- Determination of the transaction price

- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

- Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

 

The Company primarily earns revenue through website management, digital services, advertising and content placement on its websites, product

sales, and digital product sales. Management services revenue is earned and recognized on a monthly basis as the services are provided.

Advertising and content revenue is earned and recognized once the content is presented on the Company’s sites in accordance with the customer

requirements. Product sales are recognized at the time the product is shipped to the customer. In certain circumstances, products are shipped

directly by a supplier to the end customer at the Company’s request. The Company determined that it is the primary obligor in these contracts due

to being responsible for fulfilling the customer contract, establishing pricing with the customer, and taking on credit risk from the customer. The

Company recognizes revenue from these contracts with customers on a gross basis. Digital product sales represent electronic content that is

transferred to the customer at time of purchase. The Company also earns revenue from online course subscriptions that may have monthly or

annual subscriptions. In circumstances when a customer purchases an annual subscription upfront, the Company defers the revenue until the

performance obligation has been satisfied. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company has $247,322$228,960 in deferred revenue related

to unsatisfied performance obligations that are expected to be recognized during the 12 months following June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.
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The following table presented disaggregated revenue information for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and

2022:

 

  For the Three Months

ended June 30,

  For the Six Months

ended June 30,

   

For the Three Months

ended

September 30,

 

For the Nine Months

ended

September 30,

 

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Website

management
 
$ 30,045

 
$ 50,237

 
$ 70,657

 
$ 116,339

   
$ 30,921

 
$ 54,637

 
$ 101,578

 
$ 170,976

 

Advertising

and content

revenue

 

160,660

 

17,905

 

427,281

 

69,790

   

592,782

 

4,396

 

1,020,063

 

74,186

 

Product sales   181,779   202,086   308,490   331,994     179,764   196,190   488,254   528,185  

Digital

Product

Sales

   

937,539
     

87,594
     

1,855,349
     

225,622
     

509,844
     

97,077
     

2,365,193
     

322,699
 

Total

revenue
 
$ 1,310,043

   
$ 357,822

   
$ 2,661,777

   
$ 743,745

   
$ 1,313,311

   
$ 352,300

   
$ 3,975,088

   
$ 1,096,046

 

 

The Company does not have any single customer that accounted for greater than 10% of revenue during the three and six nine months ended June

30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

 

Cost of Revenue
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Cost of product revenue consists primarily of costs associated with the acquisition and shipment of products being sold through the Company’s

online marketplaces, and the costs of its service revenue, which include website content creation costs including contract labor, service fulfillment,

domain and hosting costs and certain software costs related to website operations.

 

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

 

In accordance with ASC 260 “Earnings per Share,” basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss for the period by the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period by

the weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares, such as stock options and warrants, outstanding during the period.

Such common equivalent shares have not been included in the computation of net loss per share as their effect would be anti-dilutive.

 

Income Taxes

 

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, which requires an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and

reporting for income taxes and allows recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets based upon the likelihood of realization of tax benefits

in future years. Under the asset and liability approach, deferred taxes are provided for the net tax effects of temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. A valuation allowance is

provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not these items will either expire before the Company is able to realize their benefits, or that

future deductibility is uncertain.

 

(a) Tax benefits of uncertain tax positions are recorded only where the position is “more likely than not” to be sustained based on their technical

merits. The amount recognized is the amount that represents the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being

ultimately realized. A liability is recognized for any benefit claimed or expected to be claimed, in a tax return in excess of the benefit recorded

in the financial statements, along with any interest and penalty (if applicable) in such excess. The Company has no uncertain tax positions as

of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 

The carrying value of short-term instruments, including cash, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and notes payable approximate fair value

due to the relatively short period to maturity for these instruments.

12

Table of Contents
 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most

advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation

techniques used to measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The Company utilizes a

three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosures of fair value measurements, defined as follows:
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Level 1 - inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
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Level 2 - inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are

observable for the assets or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments.

 

Level 3 - inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value.

 

The Company does not have any assets or liabilities that are required to be measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.

 

Stock-Based Compensation

 

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” established financial accounting and reporting

standards for stock-based compensation plans. It defines a fair value-based method of accounting for an employee stock option or similar equity

instrument. Accordingly, employee share-based payment compensation is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is

recognized as an expense over the requisite service period. The valuation of employee stock options is an inherently subjective process, since

market values are generally not available for long-term, non-transferable employee stock options. Accordingly, the Black-Scholes option pricing

model is utilized to derive an estimated fair value. The Black-Scholes pricing model requires the consideration of the following six variables for

purposes of estimating fair value.

 

Expected Dividends. -  We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect to do so in the foreseeable

future. Accordingly, we use an expected dividend yield of zero to calculate the grant-date fair value of a stock option.

 

Expected Volatility. -   The expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which our stock price is expected to fluctuate during the expected

term of options granted. We determine the expected volatility solely based upon the historical volatility of a peer group of companies of similar size

and with similar operations.

 

Risk-Free Interest Rate.  - The risk-free interest rate is the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to

the option’s expected term on the grant date.

 

Expected Term. - The expected life of stock options granted is based on the actual vesting date and the end of the contractual term.

 

Stock Option Exercise Price and Grant Date Price of Common Stock. - Currently the Company utilizes the most recent cash sale closing price of its

common stock as the most reasonable indication of fair value.

 

The Company accounts for compensation cost for stock option plans and for share based payments to non-employees in accordance with ASC

505, “Accounting for Equity Instruments Issued to Non-Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services“. Share-based

awards to non-employees are expensed over the period in which the related services are rendered at their fair value.

 

Reclassification

 

Certain reclassifications have been made to our prior year’s consolidated financial statements to conform to our current year presentation. These

reclassifications had no effect on our previously reported results of operations or accumulated deficit.
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The Company does not expect the adoption of recently issued accounting pronouncements to have a significant impact on Company’s results of

operations, financial position or cash flow.
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NOTE 3 – GOING CONCERN

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which

assumes that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and continue its operations for its next fiscal year. Realization values may be

substantially different from carrying values as shown and these financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to

the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. At June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 the Company had not yet achieved consistent profitable operations and expects to incur further losses in the

development of its business, all of which raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s ability

to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future profitable operations and/or to obtain the necessary financing to

meet its obligations and repay its liabilities arising from normal business operations when they come due. Management has no formal plan in place

to address this concern but considers that the Company will be able to obtain additional funds by equity or debt financing and/or related party

advances. However, there is no assurance of additional funding being available.

 

NOTE 4 – BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

 

Contentellect Limited

 

On January 13, 2023, Onfolio Assets LLC, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement

(“Contentellect Asset Purchase Agreement”) with Contentellect Limited (“Contentellect”), a Guernsey limited liability company, and Mark Whitman,

the sole owner of Contentellect. Pursuant to the Contentellect Asset Purchase Agreement, Onfolio Assets LLC purchased from Contentellect

substantially all of Contentellect’s assets utilized in the operation of the business of providing online (i) content writing services (including white

label content creation, eBook writing and eCommerce product description writing), (ii) website link building services (including white label link

building, HARO link building and SEO outreach services), (iii) social media marketing services, and (iv) virtual assistant services to individuals,

businesses and agencies through the website that the domain name www.contentellect.com points at (the “Contentellect Business”).

 

Pursuant to the Contentellect Asset Purchase Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained therein, at the closing, Contentellect

will sell to Onfolio Assets LLC the assets, properties and rights of every kind and nature related to the Contentellect Business all as more fully

described in the Contentellect Asset Purchase Agreement. The aggregate purchase price for the Contentellect Business was $850,000 in cash. This

acquisition closed on February 1, 2023. The acquisition of Contentellect is being accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805. The

Company is continuing to gather evidence to evaluate what identifiable intangible assets were acquired, such as a customer list, and the fair value

of each, and expects to finalize the fair value of the acquired assets within one year of the acquisition date. The Company assigned the preliminary

fair value of the consideration paid of $850,000 to domain name intangible assets that are amortized over an estimated useful life of four years.

 

From the period of acquisition of the Contentellect Business through June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company generated total revenue and net

incomeloss of $311,273$489,884 and $13,571, respectively.$169, respectively.This net loss is inclusive of $141,667 Amortization expenses

 

SEO Butler Acquisition

 

On October 6, 2022, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement (“Share Purchase Agreement”) with i2W Ltd, a companyincorporated

and registered in England and Wales (“Seller”), and Jonathan Kiekbusch, Ezekiel Daldy, and Lyndsay Kiekbusch, shareholders of the Seller
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(collectively, the “Guarantors”), for the purchase of all of the issued share capital (“Sale Shares”) of SEO Butler Limited, a company incorporated and

registered in England and Wales (“SEO Butler”) (the “SEO Butler Acquisition”). Seller is the owner of the legal and beneficial title to the Sale Shares of

SEO Butler, which operates as a productized service business operated via the seobutler.com website and the custom build order management

system on orders.seobutler.com and under the SEOButler and PBNButler names. The Guarantors have agreed to guarantee to the Company the

due and punctual performance, observance and discharge by the Seller of all the Guaranteed Obligations (as defined in the Share Purchase

Agreement) if and when they become performable or due under the Share Purchase Agreement.
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Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, and on the terms and subject to the conditions contained therein, at the closing, the Company

purchased the Sale Shares from the Seller, all as more fully described in the Share Purchase Agreement. The aggregate purchase price paid by the

Company was $950,000. The transaction closed on October 13, 2022. The acquisition of SEO Butler is being accounted for as a business combination

under ASC 805. The Company is continuing to gather evidence to evaluate what identifiable intangible assets were acquired, such as a customer

list, and the fair value of each, and expects to finalize the fair value of the acquired assets within one year of the acquisition date.

 

The aggregate preliminary fair value of consideration for the SEO Butler Acquisition was as follows:

 

Schedule of preliminary Fair value Acquisition    

    Amount  

Cash paid to seller     950,000 

Total preliminary consideration transferred   $ 950,000 

 

The following information summarizes the preliminary allocation of the fair values assigned to the assets acquired at the acquisition date:

 

Schedule Of Recognized Identified Assets Acquired And Liabilities      

Cash Acquired   $ 38,587 

Other Current assets     14,858 

Website domains     70,000 

Customer relationships     322,000 

Trademarks and Trade Names     90,000 

Non-Compete agreement     30,000 

Goodwill     407,888 

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities     (2,205)

Deferred revenue     (21,128)

 Net assets acquired   $ 950,000 

 

BCP Media Acquisition

 

On October 13, 2022, the Company entered into an Asset Sale and Purchase Agreement (“BCP Asset Purchase Agreement”) with BCP Media, Inc., a

Florida corporation (“BCP Media”), and Caitlin Pyle and Cody Lister, principals of BCP Media.
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Pursuant to the BCP Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company purchased from BCP Media, substantially all the Proofreading Business (defined

below) assets of BCP Media and assigned the acquired assets to the Company, which, pursuant to the BCP Asset Purchase Agreement and certain

ancillary agreements, will operate the business of online proofreading training (the “Proofreading Business”) via the following websites:

ProofreadAnywhere.com, WorkAtHomeSchool.com, and WorkYourWay2020.com.

 

Pursuant to the BCP Asset Purchase Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained therein, BCP Media sold to the Company the

purchased assets, all as more fully described in the BCP Asset Purchase Agreement. The purchase price was paid as follows: $4,499,000, plus a

warrant to purchase up to 20,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at the price of $4.75 per share, with $2,100,000 paid in cash at the closing

and $2,399,000 paid via a promissory note (the “BCP Note”).

 

 
1514

Table of Contents
 

The BCP Note was made by the Company to BCP Media. The BCP Note has the principal sum of $2,399,000 (the “Loan Amount”) and it matures on

the one year anniversary from the date of the BCP Note (the “Maturity Date”). Interest on the outstanding principal balance of, and all other sums

owing under the Loan Amount, is three percent (3%) (the “Interest Rate”), compounded annually. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as

defined in the BCP Note), the Interest Rate automatically increases to the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum, compounded annually. The Loan

Amount is payable as follows: (i) commencing on the date that is thirty (30) days from the date of the BCP Note, and continuing monthly on such

same day thereafter, the Company shall make an interest only payment to BCP Media equal to $5,997.50 per month; and (ii) the entire Loan

Amount, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.

 

The acquisition of BCP Media assets is being accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805. The Company is continuing to gather

evidence to evaluate what identifiable intangible assets were acquired, such as a customer list, and the fair value of each, and expects to finalize the

fair value of the acquired assets within one year of the acquisition date.

 

The aggregate preliminary fair value of consideration for the BCP Media acquisition was as follows:

 

Schedule of preliminary Fair value Acquisition    

    Amount  

Cash paid to seller     2,100,000 

Notes payable issued to seller     2,399,000 

Warrants to purchase common shares issued to seller     60,000 

Total preliminary consideration transferred   $ 4,559,000 

 

The following information summarizes the preliminary allocation of the fair values assigned to the assets acquired at the acquisition date:

 

Schedule Of Recognized Identified Assets Acquired And Liabilities      

Website domains   $ 220,000 

Customer relationships     813,000 

Trademarks and Trade Names     330,000 

Non-Compete agreement     80,000 

Goodwill     3,116,000 

 Net assets acquired   $ 4,559,000 
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BWPS Acquisition

 

On October 3, 2022,  the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“BWPS Asset Purchase Agreement”) with Hoang Huu Thinh, an

individual (“Hoang”). Pursuant to the BWPS Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company will purchase from Hoang, substantially all of the Seller’s

assets utilized in the operation of the business of providing a suite of optimization, customization, privacy and security products and services for

WordPress websites (“WordPress Websites Business”), with the core Business offerings consisting of (i) the WordPress plugin known as PREVENT

DIRECT ACCESS available via the website preventdirectaccess.com, and (ii) the WordPress plugin known as PASSWORD PROTECT WORDPRESS

available via the website passwordprotectwp.com.

 

Pursuant to the BWPS Asset Purchase Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained therein, at the closing, Hoang agreed to sell

to Onfolio, LLC the WordPress Websites Business, all as more fully described in the BWPS Asset Purchase Agreement. The aggregate purchase price

for the WordPress Websites Business is as follows: (i) $1,250,000 paid in cash at the closing and $40,000 paid via a promissory note to be made by

Onfolio, LLC payable to Hoang after the performance of certain obligations by Hoang and others as provided for in the BWPS Asset Purchase

Agreement; and (ii) up to $60,000 in cash pursuant to the earn-out provisions of the BWPS Asset Purchase Agreement. The transaction closed on

October 25, 2022. The acquisition of BWPS assets is being accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805. The Company is continuing to

gather evidence to evaluate what identifiable intangible assets were acquired, such as a customer list, and the fair value of each, and expects to

finalize the fair value of the acquired assets within one year of the acquisition date. 
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The aggregate preliminary fair value of consideration for the BWPS acquisition was as follows:

 

Schedule of preliminary Fair value Acquisition    

    Amount  

Cash paid to seller     1,250,000 

Notes payable issued to seller     40,000 

Contingent liability for earn-out provision     60,000 

Total preliminary consideration transferred   $ 1,350,000 

 

The following information summarizes the preliminary allocation of the fair values assigned to the assets acquired at the acquisition date:

 

Schedule Of Recognized Identified Assets Acquired And Liabilities      

Website domains   $ 130,000 

Customer relationships     482,000 

Trademarks and Trade Names     50,000 

Non-Compete agreement     30,000 

Goodwill     658,000 

 Net assets acquired   $ 1,350,000 

 

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information
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The following table sets forth the pro-forma consolidated results of operations for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September

30, 2023 and 2022 as if the Contentellect Business, BCP Media, BWPS, and SEO Butler acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2022. The pro forma

results of operations are presented for informational purposes only and are not indicative of the results of operations that would have been

achieved if the acquisitions had taken place on the dates noted above, or of results that may occur in the future.

 

 
Three Months ended June

30,
 

Six Months ended June 30,
   

Three Months ended

September 30,
 

Nine Months ended

September 30,
 

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue  $ 1,310,043   $ 1,315,899   $ 2,749,810   $ 3,212,274    $ 1,313,311   $ 2,843,468   $ 4,063,121   $ 4,739,843  

Operating

loss
 

(1,060,697 )
 

(1,042,461 )
 

(2,240,428 )
 

(1,203,756 )
 

(909,373 )
 

(2,004,142 )
 

(3,149,802 )
 

(2,165,437 )
Net loss   (1,046,795 )   (1,093,259 )   (2,159,435 )   (1,249,237 )   (901,909 )   (2,049,922 )   (3,061,345 )   (2,205,900 )
Net loss

attributable

to common

shareholders

 

(1,097,039 )

 

(1,093,259 )

 

(2,260,704 )

 

(1,249,237 )

 

(956,140 )

 

(2,049,922 )

 

(3,216,845 )

 

(2,205,900 )
Net loss per

common

share

 

$ (0.21 )

 

$ (0.07 )

 

$ (0.44 )

 

$ (0.07 )

 

$ (0.19 )

 

$ (0.07 )

 

$ (0.63 )

 

$ (0.82 )
Weighted

Average

common

shares

outstanding

 

5,110,195

 

2,355,045

 

5,110,195

 

2,354,560

   

5,110,195

 

3,284,339

 

5,110,195

 

2,675,634

 

Impairment of Goodwill

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized total goodwill impairment expense of $3,062,579 related

to the above acquisitions, as a result of lower than expected revenues.

 

NOTE 5 – INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

 

The Company holds various investments in certain joint ventures as described below.

 

Cost method investments

 

OnFolio JV I, LLC (“JV I”) was formed on October 11, 2019 under the laws of Delaware. OnFolio LLC is the managing member of JV I and has

operational and financial decision making. The manager of JV 1 can be removed by a majority vote of the equity holders of JV I. On August 1, 2020,

the Company received an investment of 2.72% by assignment from Dominic Wells, the Company’s CEO, who invested $10,000 into JV I for the

equity interest. As manager of JV I, the Company will receive a monthly management fee of $2,500, and 50% of net profits of JV I above the monthly

minimum of $12,500. In the event of the sale of a website that JV I manages, the Company will received 50% of the excess of the sales price above

the price paid for the site. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company purchased an additional 10.91% interest from existing owners

for $52,500 in cash, bringing its total equity interest to 13.65%. The management fee to the Company described above was waived for fiscal year

ended December 31, 2022 and through the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, due to lower operating results of JV I.
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OnFolio JV II, LLC (“JV II”) was formed on November 8, 2019 under the laws of Delaware. OnFolio LLC is the managing member of JV II and has

operational and financial decision making. The manager of JV II can be removed by a majority vote of the equity holders of JV II. On August 1, 2020,

the Company received an investment of approximately 2.14% by assignment from Dominic Wells, the Company’s CEO, who invested $10,000 into JV

II for the equity interest. Additionally, during the year ending December 31, 2020 the CEO acquired an additional interest from an existing JV II

investor and transferred it to the Company, bringing its total equity interest in JV II to 4.28%. During the year ending December 31, 2021, the

company acquired additional interest from an existing JV II investor by paying $9,400 for his 2.14%, bringing its total equity interest in JV II to 6.42%.

As manager of JV II, the Company will receive a monthly management fee of $1,500, and 50% of net profits of JV II above the monthly minimum of

$16,500. In the event of the sale of a website that JV II manages, the Company will receive 50% of the excess of the sales price above the price paid

for the site. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company purchased an additional 4.28% interest from an existing owner for $10,000 in

cash, bringing its total equity interest to 10.70%. Based on the cash purchase price of the additional interest, the Company determined there was

an implied impairment in the amount of $14,401 related to the cost basis of JV II during the year ended December 31, 2022. The management fee to

the Company described above was waived for fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and through the six nine months ended June 30,

2023September 30, 2023, due to lower operating results of JV II.

 

OnFolio JV III, LLC (“JV III”) was formed on January 3, 2020 under the laws of Delaware. OnFolio LLC is the managing member of JV III and has

operational and financial decision making. The manager of JV 1 can be removed by a majority vote of the equity holders of JV III. On August 1, 2020,

the Company received an investment of approximately 1.94% by assignment from Dominic Wells, the Company’s CEO, who invested $10,000 into JV

I for the equity interest. The $10,000 owed by the Company is included in Due to related parties on the consolidated balance sheet as of December

31, 2020. During the year ending December 31, 2021, the company acquired additional interests from existing JV II investors by paying $40,000 for

7.7652%, bringing its total equity interest in JV III to 9.7052%. As manager of JV III, the Company will receive a monthly management fee of $3,000,

and 50% of net profits of JV III above the monthly minimum of $16,500. In the event of the sale of a website that JV III manages, the Company will

receive 50% of the excess of the sales price above the price paid for the site. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company purchased an

additional 3.88% interest from an existing owner for $5,000 in cash, bringing its total equity interest to 13.59%. Based on the cash purchase price of

the additional interest, the Company determined there was an impairment in the amount of $37,493 recognized during the year ended December

31, 2022 related to the cost basis of JV III. The management fee to the Company described above was reduced to $500 for fiscal year ended

December 31, 2022 due to lower operating results of JV III. The management fee to the Company described above was waived for the six nine

months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 due to lower operating results of JV II.

 

OnFolio Groupbuild 1 LLC (“Groupbuild”) was formed on April 22, 2020 under the laws of Delaware. The Company, as manager, is entitled to 20% of

the profits of Groupbuild, and an annual management fee of $15,000. The Company was assigned a 20% interest in Groupbuild by the Company’s

CEO on August 1, 2020.

 

Equity Method Investments

 

OnFolio JV IV, LLC (“JV IV”) was formed on January 3, 2020 under the laws of Delaware. The Company holds an equity interest of 35.8% in JV IV, and is

the manager of JV IV. The Company acquired this interest on August 1, 2020 for $290,000 through issuance of a Note payable to the joint venture.

The Company paid off the note payable during the year ended December 31, 2022. The manager of JV IV can be removed by a majority vote of the

equity holders of JV IV.
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The balance sheet of JV IV at June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 included total assets of $846,659$839,834 and total liabilities of $4,200.$4,025.  The

balance sheet of JV IV at December 31, 2022 included total assets of $855,442 and total liabilities of $4,130. Additionally, the income statement for JV
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IV for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022 included the following:

 

   
Three Months ended June

30,
   

Six Months ended June 30,
 

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue   $ 16,556    $ 26,285    $ 22,210    $ 53,169 

Net loss     14,545      17,618      19,241      42,375 
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Three Months ended

September 30,
   

Nine Months ended

September 30,
 

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Revenue   $ 9,404    $ 28,008    $ 48,169    $ 81,777 

Net income     7,895      26,740      41,680      69,115 

 

The Company recognized equity method income of $12,095$14,921 and $16,488$26,056 during the six nine months ended June, 2023September

30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and received dividends from JV IV of $15,266$20,473 and $17,607, $23,915, respectively, which were accounted for as

returns on investment.

 

NOTE 6 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

The following table represents the balances of intangible assets as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

 

   
Estimated

life 
 

June 30, 2023
   

December 31,

2022
 

Website Domains   Indefinite   $ 1,118,323    $ 1,308,260 

Website Domains   4 years     1,277,855      424,674 

Customer relationships   4-6 years     1,653,133      1,638,502 

Trademarks and Tradenames   10 years     480,099      476,010 

Non-compete agreements   3 years     143,367      142,004 

          4,672,777      3,989,450 

Accumulated Amortization - Website domains         (166,533)     (23,834)

Accumulated Amortization - Customer Relationships         (250,282)     (78,514)

Accumulated Amortization - Trademarks / Tradenames         (35,591)     (11,484)

Accumulated Amortization - Non-Compete         (35,009)     (11,000)

Net Intangible       $ 4,185,362    $ 3,864,618 

On January 6, 2021, the Company acquired an additional domain name and related intellectual property for a purchase price of $700,000, which was

paid in cash through March 1, 2021 and recognized an as indefinite lived intangible asset. The Company also paid $42,000 as a finders fee.

Management evaluated the transaction under ASC 805 and determined it was an asset acquisition, as substantially all of the fair value of assets

acquired was concentrated in a group of similar assets, being the domain names and related intellectual property to operate those domains.

On August 25, 2021, the Company acquired an additional domain name and related intellectual property for a purchase price of $84,000, recognized

an as indefinite lived intangible asset. Management evaluated the transaction under ASC 805 and determined it was an asset acquisition, as
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substantially all of the fair value of assets acquired was concentrated in a group of similar assets, being the domain names and related intellectual

property to operate those domains.

On May 2, 2022 the Company sold one its domain sites and related intellectual property for a purchase price of $45,694, and recognized a loss of

$34,306 on the disposal. The Company also paid $7,392 in fees related to the transaction.

    Estimated

life 

 

September

30,

2023

   

December

31,

2022

 

Website Domains   Indefinite   $ 418,323    $ 1,308,260 

Website Domains   4 years     1,275,285      424,674 

Customer relationships   4-6 years     1,641,313      1,638,502 

Trademarks and Tradenames   10 years     476,796      476,010 

Non-compete agreements   3 years     142,265      142,004 

          3,953,982      3,989,450 

Accumulated Amortization - Website domains         (245,756)     (23,834)
Accumulated Amortization - Customer Relationships         (334,130)     (78,514)
Accumulated Amortization - Trademarks / Tradenames         (47,265)     (11,484)
Accumulated Amortization - Non-Compete         (46,588)     (11,000)

Net Intangible       $ 3,280,243    $ 3,864,618 

 

On October 13, 2022, the Company closed on its acquisition of the SEO Butler Acquisition. As part of the acquisition, the Company acquired assets

related to the websites operated by SEO Butler. Pursuant to the purchase price allocation as further described in Note 4, the Company allocated

$512,000, which is to be amortized over the estimated life of the assets ranging from 3-10 years.

 

On October 14, 2022, the Company closed on its acquisition of the BCP Media Acquisition. As part of the acquisition, the Company acquired assets

related to the Proofreading Business. Pursuant to the purchase price allocation as further described in Note 4, the Company allocated $1,443,000,

which is to be amortized over the estimated life of the assets ranging from 3-10 years.

 

On October 25, 2022, the Company closed on its acquisition of the BWPS Acquisition. As part of the acquisition, the Company acquired assets

related to Wordpress Plugins. Pursuant to the purchase price allocation as further described in Note 4, the Company allocated $692,000, which is to

be amortized over the estimated life of the assets ranging from 3-10 years.
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On February 1, 2023, the Company closeclosed on its acquisition of the Contentellect Business, and allocated the entire $85,000$850,000 purchase

price to domain name assets with an estimated life of 4 years.

 

During the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company recognized impairment losses of $189,937$3,952,516 of

intangible assets.

 

The following is an amortization analysis of the annual amortization of intangible assets on a fiscal year basis as of June 30, 2023September 30,

2023:

 

For the year ended December 31,   Amount  
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2023 (6 months remaining)   $ 395,918 

2024     756,419 

2025     745,891 

2026     635,457 

2027     186,562 

Thereafter     347,792 

Total remaining intangibles amortization     3,067,039 

Schedule of Future Minimum Annual Lease Commitments Under Operating Leases

For the year ended December 31,   Amount  

2023 (3 months remaining)   $ 231,355 

2024     756,419 

2025     742,377 

2026     628,664 

2027     186,562 

Thereafter     316,543 

Total remaining intangibles amortization     2,861,920 

 

NOTE 7 – STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

 

Preferred stock

 

The Company’s authorized preferred stock consists of 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par value of $0.001 per share. On November 20,

2020, the Company designated 1,000,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock (“Series A”). The Series A has a liquidation preference to all other

securities, a liquidation value of $25 per share, receives cumulative dividends payable in cash of 12% per year, payable monthly. The Series A does

not have voting rights, except that the Company may not: 1) create any additional class or series of stock, nor any security convertible into stock of

the Company that ranks superior to or in parity with the Series A;Company; 2) modify the Series A designation; 3) initiate any and dividend other

than the declaration or payment outside of any dividend or distribution payable on the common stock in shares of common stock without

approval of at least two-thirds of the holders of the Series A. The Company has the right, but not obligation to redeem the Series A beginning

January 1, 2026, at the liquidation value per share plus any unpaid dividends.

 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company issued 12,860 Series A Preferred Stock in exchange for $321,500 of cash proceeds. During

the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 56,600 Series A Preferred Stock in exchange for $1,415,000 of cash proceeds.

 

During the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $101,269$155,500 and $88,848 in dividends

to the Series A shareholders, respectively, and made cash dividend payments of $109,053$160,563 and $44,995, $91,264, respectively. As of June 30,

2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the company has remaining unpaid dividends of $46,620$49,341 and $54,404, respectively.

 

As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 69,660 Series A preferred shares outstanding, respectively.

 

Common stock

 

Company’s authorized common stock consists of 50,000,000 shares of common stock, with a par value of $0.001 per share. All shares of common

stock have equal voting rights and, when validly issued and outstanding, are entitled to one non-cumulative vote per share in all matters to be

voted upon by shareholders. The shares of common stock have no pre-emptive, subscription, conversion or redemption rights and may be issued
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only as fully paid and non-assessable shares. Holders of the common stock are entitled to equal ratable rights to dividends and distributions with

respect to the common stock, as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available. The Company has not declared any

dividends on common stock to date.
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On August 25, 2022, the “Company entered into an underwriting agreement with EF Hutton, division of Benchmark Investments, LLC (the

“underwriter”), relating to the Company’s initial public offering of units (the “Units”) pursuant to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1

(File No. 333-264191), under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Pursuant to the underwriting agreement, the Company

sold 2,753,750 Units at a public offering price of $5.00 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of one share of common stock, par value $0.001 per share,

and two warrants, with each warrant exercisable to purchase one share of common stock, at an exercise price of $5.00 per share. The warrants

have the rights as set forth under a warrant agency agreement. The shares of common stock and the warrants were immediately separable and

were issued separately.
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The Company also granted the underwriter a 45-day over-allotment option, if any, to purchase up to a) 413,063 additional shares of common stock,

and/or b) 826,126 additional warrants, equivalent to 15% of the shares of common stock and warrants sold in the offering. On August 29, 2022, the

underwriter partially exercised this option and purchased 609,750 additional warrants at the purchase price of $.01 per warrant for aggregate gross

proceeds of $6,097.50.

 

The Company also issued the underwriter a warrant to purchase 82,613 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.50, which

is 110% of the initial public offering price. The underwriter’s warrant may be exercised in whole or in part, commencing on a date which is six

months from August 25, 2022 until August 25, 2027.

 

The underwriting agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants by the Company. It also provides that the Company

will indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribute to payments the underwriters

may be required to make because of any of those liabilities. In exchange for the underwriters’ services, the Company agreed to sell the Units to the

underwriters at a purchase price of $4.60 per unit.

 

The Company’s officers and directors and their affiliates have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell,

encumber, grant any option for the sale of or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or

exercisable or exchangeable for shares of our common stock until May 27, 2023 without the prior written consent of the underwriter.

The Offering closed on August 30, 2022, and the Company sold 2,753,750 shares of common stock and 5,507,500 warrants (6,117,250 warrants

including the over-allotment option warrants) to the underwriters for total gross proceeds of $13,774,848. After deducting the underwriting

commissions, discounts, and offering expenses, the Company received net proceeds of $12,225,470.

 

Common Share Awards

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted a total of 3,233,336 shares to various employees and consultants for services

rendered. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $383,328$447,248 and $574,992 related to the vesting of the share

awards during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company expects

to recognize an additional $63,920 through the end of the requisite service period for these awards, assuming all shares vest. The requisite service
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period for these awardshave vested and there is the same as the vesting period for each award. As of June 30, 2023, the awards had a remaining

service period of approximately 0.05 years.no additional expense to recognize.

 

The Company also awarded a total of 2,800 shares of common stock to the Company’s four independent members of the Board of Directors, with a

fair value of $16,667 based on the most recent price of common stock sold for cash recognized as part of stock-based compensation during the

year ended December 31, 2022.

 

Stock Options

 

On June 1, 2023, the Company awarded an aggregate of 60,000 options to purchase shares of common stock to the Company’s four independent

members of the Board of Directors, with and exercise price of $1.27 The Company estimated fair value of these options to be $0.93 per share using

a Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the expense associated with the options will be recognized over the requite service period of 7 months.

The fair value of the stock options was estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions: 1) dividend yield of

0%; 2) risk-free rate of 3.70%; 3) volatility of 209.7% based on a group of peer group companies; 4) a common stock price of $1.27 based on the most

recent common stock sales for cash, and 5) an expected term of five years.

 

A summary of stock option information is as follows:

   
Outstanding

Awards

   

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

   

Weighted

Average

Exercise

price

 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022     59,850    $ 4.15    $ 9.11 

Granted     60,000      0.93      1.27 

Exercised     -       -       -  

Forfeited and cancelled     (22,661)     (3.69)     (13.68)

Outstanding at September 30, 2023     97,189    $ 2.25    $ 3.21 

Exercisable at September 30, 2023     81,932     $ 2.35     $ 3.23  
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A summary of stock option information is as follows:

   
Outstanding

Awards

   

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

   

Weighted

Average

Exercise

price

 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022     59,850    $ 4.15    $ 9.11 

Granted     60,000      0.93      1.27 

Exercised     -       -       -  

Forfeited and cancelled     (22,661)     (3.69)     (13.68)

Outstanding at June 30, 2023     97,189    $ 2.25    $ 6.75 

Exercisable at June 30, 2023     68,002    $ 2.35    $ 3.33 

The weighted average remaining contractual life is approximately 6.756.50 years for stock options outstanding with no intrinsic value of as of June

30, 2023September 30, 2023. The Company recognized stock-based compensation of $80,269$102,786 and 59,84891,786 during the six nine
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months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company expects to recognize an additional $54,783$32,267 of

compensation cost related to options that are expected to vest.

 

Common Stock Warrants

 

A summary of stock warrant information is as follows:

 

 

Outstanding

Awards

   

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Value

   

Weighted

Average

Exercise

price

   

Outstanding

Awards

   

Weighted

Average

Grant

Date Fair

Value

   

Weighted

Average

Exercise

price

 

Outstanding at December 31, 2022   6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01     6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01  

Granted   6,219,863   4.21   5.01     -   -   -  

Exercised   -   -   -     -   -   -  

Forfeited and cancelled     -       -       -       -       -       -  

Outstanding at June 30, 2023   6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01  

Exercisable at June 30, 2023   6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01  

Outstanding at September 30, 2023   6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01  

Exercisable at September 30, 2023   6,219,863   $ 4.21   $ 5.01  

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life is approximately 4.153.89 years for stock warrants outstanding with no intrinsic value of as of June

30, 2023September 30, 2023.

 

NOTE 8 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 

From time to time, the Company pays expenses directly on behalf of the Joint Ventures that it manages and receives funds on behalf of the joint

ventures. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the balances due from the joint ventures were $92,673$119,958 and

$74,866 included in non-current assets.

 

From time to time, the Company’s CEO paid expenses on behalf of the Company, and the Company funded certain expenses to the CEO.

Additionally, the Company received its investments in JV I, JV II and JV III from the CEO. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31,

2022, the Company was owed $36,854$36,994 by the entities controlled by the Company’s CEO.

 

No member of management has benefited from the transactions with related parties.
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NOTE 9 – NOTES PAYABLE

 

On October 13, 2022, the Company entered into a short term financing agreement with a payment services provider for total principal of $82,490

and received cash proceeds of $73,000. The Company will pay 17% of its daily sales processed through the service provider until the total principal

is repaid. As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 the Company owed $19,215$0 and $68,959, respectively.
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On October 13, 2022, the Company entered in the BCP Note as part of the acquisition of BCP media. The BCP Note has  the principal sum of

$2,399,000 (and it matures on the one year anniversary from the date of the BCP Note. Interest on the outstanding principal balance of, and all

other sums owing under the Loan Amount, is three percent (3%), compounded annually. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in

the BCP Note), the Interest Rate automatically increases to the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum, compounded annually. The Loan Amount is

payable as follows: (i) commencing on the date that is thirty (30) days from the date of the BCP Note, and continuing monthly on such same day

thereafter, the Company shall make an interest only payment to BCP Media equal to $5,997.50per$5,997.50 per month; and (ii) the entire Loan

Amount, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.

 

NOTE 10 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

 

Management has evaluated events through August __, 2023, November 14, 2023, the date these financial statements were available for issuance,

and noted the following events requiring disclosures:

  

Subsequent to September 30, 2023, the Company repaid $2,399,000 towards the BCP Note principal balance according to its scheduled due date of

October 15.

Beginning on October 2, 2023 to date, the Companysold 24,000 shares of its Series A preferred stock for total proceeds of $600,000. The Company

relied upon Rule 506(c) of Regulation D, Regulation S and Section 4(a)(5) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. No underwriting discounts or

commissions were provided in connection with the sales of the Series A Preferred shares.

On October 25, 2023, the Company received a written notification (the “Notice”) from the Listing Qualifications Staff of The NASDAQ Stock Market

(“NASDAQ”) stating that the Company is not in compliance with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) because for the last 30 consecutive business days

the closing bid price of the Company’s common stock was below the $1.00 per share minimum required for continued listing on NASDAQ. The

Notice has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company’s common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

As stated in the Notice, NASDAQ Listing Rules provide the Company a compliance period of 180 calendar days (i.e., until April 22, 2024) in which to

regain compliance, and the Company will regain compliance if the closing bid price of its common stock is $1.00 per share or higher for a minimum

period of ten consecutive business days during this compliance period. In the event the Company does not regain compliance, the Company may

be eligible for additional time. To qualify, the Company will be required to meet the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held

shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and will need to

provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. If

the Company meets these requirements, NASDAQ will inform the Company that it has been granted an additional 180 calendar days. However, if it

appears to the staff of NASDAQ that the Company will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if the Company is otherwise not eligible, NASDAQ will

provide notice that its securities will be subject to delisting.

The Company intends to continue to monitor the closing bid price of its common stock and to assess its options for maintaining the listing of its

common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market. The Company will consider all available options to regain compliance with the minimum bid price

requirement.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, included herewith. This discussion

should not be construed to imply that the results discussed herein will necessarily continue into the future, or that any conclusion reached herein will
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necessarily be indicative of actual operating results in the future. Such discussion represents only the best present assessment of our management. This

information should also be read in conjunction with our audited historical consolidated financial statements which are included in our Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 12, 2023.

 

Overview

 

Onfolio Holdings Inc. acquires controlling interests in and actively manages online businesses that we believe (i) operate in sectors with long-term

growth opportunities, (ii) have positive and stable cash flows, (iii) face minimal threats of technological or competitive obsolescence and (iv) can be

managed by our existing team or have strong management teams largely in place. Through the acquisition and growth of a diversified group of

websites with these characteristics, we believe we offer investors in our shares an opportunity to diversify their own portfolio risk.

 

Onfolio Holdings Inc. was incorporated on July 20, 2020 under the laws of Delaware to acquire and develop high-growth and profitable websites.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “our"our Company,” “we, "we,” “our” "our” or “us” "us” and other similar terms means

Onfolio Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation, and our wholly owned subsidiaries.

 

Revenue in September was slightly subdued, but our gross margins continued to improve as a result of our ongoing commitment to optimize and

strategically streamline our operations.  

In the second third quarter of 2023, we made significant financial progress that is not necessarily apparent fromreopened our financial statements.

The highlight of our second quarter performance was a reduction in cash burn from approximately $940,000 in the first quarter of 2023 (excluding

Contentellect one-time items) non-dilutive Series A preferred stock offering to qualified investors, successfully raising approximately $600,000 in

the second quarter, a 35% improvement. This cash burn was the result of expense reduction, revenue stabilization, and the absence of one-time

costsOctober 2023. To date, our Series A preferred stock offering remains open.  We expect to continue to raise additional capital pursuant to this

offering, but we cannot assure you that were present we will be successful in the first quarter of 2023.

Revenue in the second quarter was down slightly from the first quarter of 2023.  Operating expenses in the second quarter increased largely due to

the reclassification of some costs from Cost of Revenue to Operating Expenses and the$189,000 non-cash impairment charge from the write-off of

some of our smaller assets. When accounting for those items, the financial progress from previous quarters becomes more clear.  Management

believes that the cash burn is currently the most important metric to assess our operating efficiency and progress. doing so.

 

In Q4 2022 and Q1October 2023 we completed significant acquisitions, paid in full the $2.39 million promissory note due to BCP Media, which will

now enable us to maintain a debt-free balance sheet, exclusive of accounts payable, deferred revenue and other regular operational liabilities. This

$2.39 million note payment significantly decreased our cash balance, and given our Company’s recurring losses from operations and negative cash

flows from operations, we will need to raise additional operating capital through equity financing, debt financing or a combination of both. As

stated above, our Series A preferred stock offering remains open and we expect to continue to raise additional capital pursuant to that offering.

However, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in raising any debt or equity capital, and our failure to do so in Q2 2023 we focused would

have an adverse effect on improving our platform infrastructure (which means improvingoperating results and our central team’s ability to

integrate acquisitions, perform due diligence, understand efficient capital allocation, continue to as a going concern.

In the course of our regular financial review and plan for in compliance with ASC350, we conducted a thorough reassessment of our portfolio of

subsidiaries, their performance and recent market developments. Based on this review, which considered factors such as the future), as well as

continued efforts to control and/or reduce costs. We believefinancial landscape, the evolving M&A dynamics in this landscape, and prevailing

market conditions, we have made substantial progress in this areadetermined that the carrying value of certain subsidiaries no longer reflects their

recoverable amount.

Consequently, we have recognized an impairment loss related to four of our operations.

Looking ahead to Q3 2023, we continue to focus on increasing revenuesubsidiaries. This decision reflects changes in their operating and controlling

costs and aim to continue our upward trend towards profitability.

We currently face two key questions. One is:   Can we reach profitability without issuing further equity and diluting shareholders? The other

question is whether we can successfully acquire businesses and integrate them into our portfolio. Said another way, do our acquisitions perform
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well after the deal has closed?

Since the start of the year, weeconomic environments, which have been exploring various options available for reaching profitability without

diluting shareholders. The options rely on a few key levers. 1.) Organic growth of acquired evaluated to align with our commitment to maintaining

financial transparency and existing businesses. 2.) Expense reduction 3.) Non-dilutive financing.shareholder trust.
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The impairment of these assets does not reflect on the overall strategic direction of Onfolio. We have made progressremain focused on leveraging

the strengths of our portfolio and are committed to taking necessary measures to enhance shareholder value and ensure the long-term vitality of

our operations.

In our ongoing commitment to financial sustainability, we implemented further measures at the end of Q3 to reduce our expenses, as announced

on October 26, 2023. These measures are anticipated to result in all 3 areas, particularly 1 + 2. For part 3, wesubstantial monthly savings of

approximately $85,000 to $90,000. We are pursuing options availableconsistently exploring further avenues to us, but so far have not closed on

any minimize overhead and enhance the operational and financial performance of the options as the options are not on attractive enough

terms.our portfolio.

 

We are also see a potential path actively pursuing accretive acquisitions that contribute positively to reaching profitability without raising debt,

which reliesour bottom line. We anticipate the upcoming quarters to be transformative as we relentlessly and meticulously focus on

revenuereducing expenses, growing revenues, and steering our Company towards financial profitability.

Management is dedicated to continuous improvement, pursuit of growth, and continued cost control. Q2 was a period where we focused strongly

on these 2 areas, and started commitment to see results. We do not aggressively pursue revenue growth at all costs, but rather we aim for low-risk,

profitable growth of our existing businesses.shareholders.

 

For financing, when the right terms are presented to us, we will take on that capital, as there are still numerous acquisition targets in our

pipeline.Recent Developments

 

In termsOn October 25, 2023, the Company received a written notification (the “Notice”) from the Listing Qualifications Staff of The NASDAQ

Stock Market (“NASDAQ”) stating that the Company is not in compliance with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) because for the last 30 consecutive

business days the closing bid price of the second question about our ability Company’s common stock was below the $1.00 per share minimum

required for continued listing on NASDAQ. The Notice has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company’s common stock on the

NASDAQ Capital Market.

As stated in the Notice, NASDAQ Listing Rules provide the Company a compliance period of 180 calendar days (i.e., until April 22, 2024) in which to

successfully operate businesses post-acquisition, Q2 was another positive quarter, where we saw continued progress with our post-IPO

acquisitions. Our goal regain compliance, and the Company will regain compliance if the closing bid price of its common stock is $1.00 per share or

higher for a minimum period of ten consecutive business days during this compliance period. In the event the Company does not regain

compliance, the Company may be eligible for additional time. To qualify, the Company will be required to be either steady or growing within 6

months after we acquire it (there is typically a dip in meet the transition period as we bring in new leadership continued listing requirement for

market value of publicly held shares and various improvements), and we are pleased all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital

Market, with the results we’ve seen thus far.exception of the bid price requirement, and will need to provide written notice of its intention to cure

the deficiency during the second compliance period, by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. If the Company meets these requirements,

NASDAQ will inform the Company that it has been granted an additional 180 calendar days. However, if it appears to the staff of NASDAQ that the

Company will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if the Company is otherwise not eligible, NASDAQ will provide notice that its securities will be

subject to delisting.
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Asset Purchase Agreement - Contentellect LimitedThe Company intends to continue to monitor the closing bid price of its common stock and to

assess its options for maintaining the listing of its common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market. The Company will consider all available options to

regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement.

 

Emerging Growth Company

 

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). As a result, we are permitted

to, and intend to, rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements. For so long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be

required to:

 

· have an auditor report on our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

· comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm

rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (i.e., an

auditor discussion and analysis);

· submit certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay” and “say-on-frequency;”

· disclose certain executive compensation related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and performance and

comparisons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median employee compensation.
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In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period

provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an

emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private

companies. We have elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. Our financial statements may therefore not be

comparable to those of companies that comply with such new or revised accounting standards.

 

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public

offering, (ii) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our total annual gross revenues are $1.07 billion or more, (ii) the date that we become a

“large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which would occur if

the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently

completed second fiscal quarter or (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three

year period.

 

Principal Factors Affecting Our Financial Performance

 

Our operating results are primarily affected by the following factors at a portfolio company level:

 

● · our ability to acquire new customers or retain existing customers and grow revenue;

 

●

· our ability to offer competitive product pricing and control expenses;

 

●
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· our ability to broaden product offerings;

 

●

· industry demand and competition;

 

●

· our ability to leverage technology and use and develop efficient processes;

 

●

· our ability to attract and retain talented employees;

· our ability to identify and acquire companies at reasonable prices and terms;

· our ability to reduce and control corporate overhead; and

 

●

· market conditions and our market position.

 

Results of Operations

 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022

 

The Company reported a net loss of $1,294,125$4,733,159 for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to a net loss of

$1,264,534$969,696 for the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. The components of the increase in net loss for the current

period are as follows:
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For the Quarter Ended

June 30,
 

$ Change

 from prior
 

% Change

from prior
   

For the Quarter Ended

September 30,
 

$ Change

 from prior
 

% Change

from prior
 

  2023     2022     year     year     2023     2022     year     year  

Revenue,

services
 
$ 295,750

 
$ 68,143

 
$ 227,607

 
334 %

 
$ 431,196

 
$ 59,032

 
$ 372,164

 
630 %

Revenue,

product

sales

   

1,014,293
     

289,679
     

724,614
     

250 %

   

882,115
     

293,268
     

588,847
     

201 %
Total

Revenue
 
$ 1,310,043

 
$ 357,822

 
952,221

 
266 %

 
$ 1,313,311

 
$ 352,300

 
961,011

 
273 %
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Revenue increased by $952,221, $961,011, or 266% 273% for the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to 2022. The

increase is primarily due to revenue from our three acquisitions completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022 and the purchase of

Contentellect in Q1 2023, which combined together increased revenue by approximately $1,036,000, $1,054,000, including approximately

$789,000$720,000 in digital product sales. This increase was partially offset by a decline in website management revenue, and a decline in digital

product sales within the Company’s Mighty Deals subsidiary.

 

Cost of Revenue

 

   
For the Quarter Ended

June 30,
   

$ Change

from
   

% Change

from
 

    2023     2022     prior year     prior year  

Cost of revenue, services   $ 129,622    $ 55,416    $ 74,206      134%

Cost of revenue, product sales     364,850      152,697      212,153      139%

Total Cost of Revenue     494,472      208,113      286,359      138%
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For the Quarter Ended

September 30,
   

$ Change

from
   

% Change

from
 

    2023     2022     prior year     prior year  

Cost of revenue, services   $ 218,063    $ 100,961    $ 117,102      129%

Cost of revenue, product sales     247,533      115,883      131,650      151%

Total Cost of Revenue     465,596      216,844      248,752      141%
 

Cost of revenue increased by $286,359, $248,752, or 138% 141% due to the increase resulting from the Company’s recent acquisitions. The

Company’s gross profit margins increased in the current period compared to the prior period due to the Company’s efforts to streamline

operations and create efficiencies, and due to the increased sales from digital product sales with higher margins in the new businesses. The

components most significant to the Company’s cost of revenue are the costs of labor for service fulfillment, content creation, website hosting and

maintenance costs and the costs of acquiring new inventory products for physical product sales.

 

Operating Expenses

 

Selling, General and Administrative

 

General and Administrative expenses increased by $537,362, $557,154, or 52% 57% during the three months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023

compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in advertising and marketing costs of $290,000$418,000 related to the new

businesses acquired, amortization expense of $190,000 associated with the acquired intangible assets not present in the comparable period, a

$128,000 increase$87,000 decrease in other general and administrative costs including stock-based compensation, travel, merchant fees, and

increased costs related to being a public company of $93,000, $36,000, including insurance and director fees. Contractor and payroll costs declined

by $141,000were flat compared to the prior period despite the overall increase in the business, as a result of the Company’s efficiency efforts.

 

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of consulting related expenses paid to contractors, stock-based compensation,

advertising and marketing costs, and other expenses. In the near future, we expect our general and administrative expenses to continue to

increase to support business growth. Over the long term, we expect general and administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of revenue.
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Impairment Loss

 

During the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company recognized impairment losses of $189,937$3,762,579 of goodwill

and intangible asset related to lower performing sites including Pretty Neat Creative, operating under Onfolio CraftsProofread Anywhere LLC, WP

Folio LLC, SEO Butler Limited and Mighty Deals LLC. Management has a process to evaluate the viability and profitability of each business. If and

when management concludes that a business has a significantly reduced future value, management will assess the asset for possible impairment in

the fiscal quarterQuarter management reaches that conclusion.
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Professional fees increased by $141,692, $67,433, or 88% 45% during the three months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to 2022

primarily due to increased legal and accounting costs associated with the Company’s compliance requirements as a public company. The Company

also incurred $57,393$77,525 in acquisition costs during the three months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to $163,307$0 during

the three months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022, which included due diligence, audit, legal and other professional fees related to

acquisitions and potential acquisitions. We expect acquisition costs to remain significant as we continue to grow based on acquisitions.

 

Other Income and expense

 

Total other income was $13,902$7,464 during the three months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to other expenseincome of

$53,723$18,494 during the three months June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. The increasedecrease in other income was driven by higher interest

income on the Company’s increased cash balances from funds raised in the Company’s initial public offering in the third quarter of 2022. As

compared to impairment losses and a loss on sale of assets during 2022. lower equity method income.

 

Six Nine Months Ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to the Six Nine Months Ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022
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The Company reported a net loss of $2,578,200$5,935,665 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to a net loss

of $2,013,300$2,982,996 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. The components of the increase in net loss for the current

period are as follows:

 

Revenues

 

 
For the Quarter Ended

June 30,
 

$ Change

 from prior
 

% Change

from prior
   

For the Quarter Ended

September 30,
 

$ Change

 from prior
 

% Change

from prior
 

  2023     2022     year     year     2023     2022     year     year  

Revenue,

services
 
$ 688,151

 
$ 186,130

 
$ 502,021

 
270 %

 
$ 1,119,347

 
$ 245,162

 
$ 874,185

 
357 %

Revenue,

product

sales

   

1,973,626
     

557,615
     

1,416,011
     

254 %

   

2,855,741
     

850,883
     

2,004,858
     

236 %
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Total

Revenue
 
$ 2,661,777

 
$ 743,745

 
1,918,032

 
258 %

 
$ 3,975,088

 
$ 1,096,046

 
2,879,042

 
263 %

 

Revenue increased by $1,918,032, $2,879,042, or 258% 263% for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to 2022. The

increase is primarily due to revenue from our three acquisitions completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022 and the purchase of

Contentellect in Q1 2023, which increased revenue by approximately $1,610,000, $3,113,000, including approximately $1,044,000$2,153,000 in digital

product sales. This increase was offset by a decline in website management revenue, and a decline in digital product sales within the Company’s

Might Deals subsidiary.

 

Cost of Revenue

 

 
For the Quarter Ended

June 30,
 

$ Change

from
 

% Change

from
   

For the Quarter Ended

September 30,
 

$ Change

from
 

% Change

from
 

  2023     2022     prior year     prior year     2023     2022     prior year     prior year  

Cost of

revenue,

services

 

$ 433,786

 

$ 183,755

 

$ 250,031

 

136 %

 

$ 651,849

 

$ 284,716

 

$ 367,133

 

129 %
Cost of

revenue,

product

sales

   

669,207

     

249,127

     

420,080

     

169 %

   

916,740

     

365,010

     

551,730

     

151 %
Total

Cost of

Revenue

 

1,102,993

 

432,882

 

670,111

 

155 %

 

1,568,589

 

649,726

 

918,863

 

141 %
 

Cost of revenue increased by $670,111, $918,863, or 155% 141% due to the increase resulting from the Company’s recent acquisitions. The

Company’s gross profit margins increased in the current period compared to the prior period due to the Company’s efforts to streamline

operations and create efficiencies, and due to the increased sales from digital product sales with higher margins. The components most significant

to the Company’s cost of revenue are the costs of labor for service fulfillment, content creation, website hosting and maintenance costs and the

costs of acquiring new inventory products for physical product sales.
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Operating Expenses

 

Selling, General and Administrative

 

General and Administrative expenses increased by $1,422,452, $1,979,606, or 80% 72% during the six nine months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023

compared to 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in advertising and marketing costs of $738,000$1,155,000 related to the new

businesses acquired, amortization expense of $361,000$550,000 associated with the acquired intangible assets not present in the comparable

period, a $163,000$67,000 increase in other general and administrative costs including stock-based compensation, travel, merchant fees, and

increased costs related to being a public company of $242,000.$279,000, offset by a decrease in payroll and contractor costs of $71,000.
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Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of consulting related expenses paid to contractors, stock-based compensation,

advertising and marketing costs, and other expenses. In the near future, we expect our general and administrative expenses to continue to

increase to support business growth. Over the long term, we expect general and administrative expenses to decrease as a percentage of revenue.

 

Impairment Loss
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During the threenine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the Company recognized impairment losses of $189,937$ 3,952,516 of

intangible asset related to lower performing sites including Pretty Neat Creative, operating under Onfolio Crafts  LLC, Proofread Anywhere LLC, WP

Folio LLC, SEO Butler Limited and Mighty Deals LLC. Management has a process to evaluate the viability and profitability of each business.  If and

when management concludes that a business has a significantly reduced future value, management will assess the asset for possible impairment in

the fiscal quarterQuarter management reaches that conclusion.

 

Professional Fees and Acquisition Costs

 

Professional fees increased by $359,445, $426,878, or 134% 102% during the six nine months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to 2022

primarily due to increased legal and accounting costs associated with the Company’s compliance requirements as a public company. The Company

also incurred $208,007$285,532 in acquisition costs during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to $240,468

during the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022, which included due diligence, audit, legal and other professional fees related to

acquisitions and potential acquisitions. We expect acquisition costs to remain significant as we continue to grow based on acquisitions.

 

Other Income and expense

 

Total other income was $80,993$88,457 during the six nine months June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to other expense of

$45,559$27,065 during the six nine months June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. The increase in other income was driven by higher interest income on

the Company’s increased cash balances from funds raised in the Company’s initial public offering in the third quarter of 2022. As compared to

impairment losses and a loss on sale of assets during 2022.

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

 

As of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of cash and cash equivalents of $4,052,355$3,373,178 which was

mainly on account of raising capital from sale of common stock and warrants in our IPO of $12,255,470. In addition, the Company has raised

$600,000 pursuant to a private offering of Series A preferred stock and repaid $2,164,498 on its acquisition note.
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Our Company’s recurring losses from operations and negative cash flows from operations and our need to raise additional funding to finance our

operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, management and our auditor have concluded

that substantial doubt exists regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. Our audited financial statements contained in our Company’s

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 12, 2023 were

prepared on a going concern basis, and contemplated the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. We

believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, and the future operating cash flows of the entity may not

provide adequate resources to fund ongoing cash requirements for the next twelve months. If sources of liquidity are not available or if we cannot
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generate sufficient cash flow from operations during the next twelve months, we may be required to obtain additional sources of funds through

additional operational improvements, capital market transactions, asset sales or financing from third parties, a combination thereof or otherwise.

We cannot provide assurance that these additional sources of funds will be available or, if available, would have reasonable terms. If we are unable

to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected, and we

may be unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

Cash used in operating activities

 

Net cash used in operating activities was $1,556,175$2,160,796 and $1,558,146$2,373,607 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September

30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increasedecrease was primarily from the increasedecrease general and administrative costs as the Company

expanded its operations through its business acquisitions in the past 6 months.

 

Cash used in investing activities

 

Net cash used in investing activities was $850,000 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 and net cash provided by

investing activities was $23,194 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022, respectively. During the current period, the

Company paid $850,000 to acquire the Contentellect Business, and during the comparable period the Company made additional investments in its

joint ventures of $22,500 offset by the sale of an intangible asset for proceeds of $45,694.
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Cash used in/provided by financing activities

 

Cash flows used in financing activities was $198,797$269,522 for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to cash

provided by financing activities of $249,354$12,255,478 during the six nine months ended June 30, 2022September 30, 2022. During the 2023

period, we paid $109,053$160,563 in dividends to preferred stockholders and made payments totaling $89,744$68,959 on notes payable. During

the 2022 period, we received $316,000$321,500 in cash proceeds by issuing preferred stock to various investors in a private exempted offering,

$12,255,470 in net cash proceeds from our initial public offering and received cash proceeds of $44,000 from notes payable, made payments on

various notes payable of $31,151, $59,228, paid $44,995$91,264 of dividends on preferred stock, and paid $35,000 towards its investment in various

JVs.

 

Critical Accounting Policies

 

The following are the Company’s critical accounting policies:

 

Investment in Unconsolidated Entities – Equity and Cost Method Investments

 

We account for our interests in entities in which we are able to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies, generally 50% or

less ownership interest, under the equity method of accounting. In such cases, our original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted for our

share of earnings, losses and distributions. We account for our interests in entities where we have virtually no influence over operating and

financial policies under the cost method of accounting. In such cases, our original investments are recorded at cost and any distributions received

are recorded as income. Our investments in OnFolio JV I, LLC (“JV I”), OnFolio JVII, LLC (“JVII”) and OnFolio JVIII, LLC (“JVIII”) are accounted for under

the cost method. All investments are subject to our impairment review policy.
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The current investment in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method consists of a 35.8% interest in OnFolio JV IV, LLC (“JV

IV”), which is involved in the acquisition, development and operation of websites to produce adverting revenue.

 

Variable Interest Entities

 

Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are consolidated when the investor is the primary beneficiary. A primary beneficiary is the variable interest holder

in a VIE with both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and the

obligation to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Management concluded that the joint

ventures do not qualify as variable interest entities under the requirements of ASC 810. The Company accounts for its investments in the joint

ventures under either the cost or equity method based on the equity ownership in each entity.
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Revenue Recognition

 

The Company primarily earns revenue through website management, digital services, advertising and content placement on its websites, product

sales, and digital product sales. Management services revenue is earned and recognized on a monthly basis as the services are provided.

Advertising and content revenue is earned and recognized once the content is presented on the Company's sites in accordance with the customer

requirements. Product sales are recognized at the time the product is shipped to the customer. In certain circumstances, products are shipped

directly by a supplier to the end customer at the Company's request. The Company determined that it is the primary obligor in these contracts due

to being responsible for fulfilling the customer contract, establishing pricing with the customer, and taking on credit risk from the customer. The

Company recognizes revenue from these contracts with customers on a gross basis. Digital product sales represent electronic content that is

transferred to the customer at time of purchase. The Company also earns revenue from online course subscriptions that may have monthly or

annual subscriptions. In circumstances when a customer purchases an annual subscription upfront, the Company defers the revenue until the

performance obligation has been satisfied.

 

Revenue is recognized based on the following five step model:

 

  - Identification of the contract with a customer

  - Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
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  - Determination of the transaction price

  - Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

  - Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

 

The Company amortizes acquired definite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not

amortized but subject to annual impairment tests.

 

Long-lived Assets

 

Property and equipment are stated on the basis of historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized, while minor replacements, maintenance
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and repairs are charged to current operations.

 

In accordance with ASC 360 “Property Plant and Equipment,” the Company reviews the carrying value of intangibles subject to amortization and

long-lived assets for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable.

 

Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by comparison of its carrying amount to the undiscounted cash flows that the asset or asset group

is expected to generate. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the

carrying amount of the property, if any, exceeds its fair market value.

 

Off-balance sheet arrangements

 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,

changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to

investors.

 

Contractual commitments

 

We did not have, during the periods presented, any contractual commitments or contractual contingencies as defined in the rules and regulations

of the SEC.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

 

Not applicable.

 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our

“disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, the end of

the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The term “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-

15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time

periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and

communicated to a company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any

controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls

system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a

company have been detected. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023, our

management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer has concluded that, based on such evaluation,

as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the
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material weakness described below. However, our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has

concluded that, notwithstanding the identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, the financial statements in this

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods

presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP.
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Material Weakness in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

 

We identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that exists as of June 30, 2023September 30, 2023. A material

weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that

a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. We determined that we

had a material weakness because, due to our small size, and our limited number of personnel, we did not have in place an effective internal control

environment with formal processes and procedures, including journal entry processing and review, to allow for a detailed review of accounting

transactions that would identify errors in a timely manner.

 

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we have concluded that the condensed consolidated

financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, results of

operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with GAAP.

 

Management’s Plan to Remediate the Material Weakness

 

With the oversight of senior management, management is working towards remediation of these weaknesses in 2023 including addition of

accounting personnel and to evaluate and implement procedures that will strengthen our internal controls. While we believe these measures will

remediate the material weakness identified and strengthen our internal control over financial reporting, there is no assurance that we will

demonstrate sufficient improvement that the material weakness will be remediated. We are committed to continuing to improve our internal

control processes and will continue to diligently review our financial reporting controls and procedures. 

 

Changes in Internal Control

 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

 

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of business. Litigation is

subject to inherent uncertainties and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business. We are
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currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or claims that will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our

business, financial condition or operating results.

 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

 

In addition to the information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risk factors disclosed in Part I Item 1.A “Risk Factors”

contained in our Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023. There have

been no material changes to our risk factors from those included therein. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we

currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and/or operating results. If any of the risks

actually occur, our business, financial condition, and/or results of operations could be negatively affected. We may disclose changes to such factors

or disclose additional factors from time to time in our future filings with the SEC.

 

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, AND USE OF PROCEEDS. PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

 

None.

 

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

 

None.

 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

 

Not applicable.

 

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

 

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

 

The following exhibits are included herein:

 

Exhibit No.   Description of Exhibit

10.1 Employee Agreement dated November 1, 2023 - Esbe van Heerden (incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on November

6, 2023

22.1   List of issuer and guarantor subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K filed on 4/12/23)

31.1*
 

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, executed by the Principal Executive

Officer of the Company.

31.2*
 

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, executed by the Principal Financial

Officer of the Company.
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32.1**
 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed

by the Principal Executive Officer of the Company.

32.2**
 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed

by the Principal Financial Officer of the Company.

101.INS*   Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104*   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

 

* Filed herewith.

**Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 

  ONFOLIO HOLDINGS INC.  

     

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 By: /s/ Dominic Wells  

   

Dominic Wells

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

 

       

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 By: /s/ Rob te BraakeEsbe van Heerden  

   

Rob to Braake

InterimEsbe van Heerden Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Onfolio Holdings, Inc.

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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I, Dominic Wells, certify that:

 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Onfolio Holdings Inc.;

   

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period

covered by this report;

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

   

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us

by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     

 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation; and

     

 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably

likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,

to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 /s/ Dominic Wells  

  Dominic Wells  

 
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Onfolio Holdings, Inc.

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 

I, Rob te Braake, Esbe van Heerden, certify that:

 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Onfolio Holdings Inc.;

   

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period

covered by this report;

   

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

   

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us

by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     

 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     

 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation; and

 

 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably

likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,

to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
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b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 /s/ Rob te BraakeEsbe van Heerden  

  Rob te BraakeEsbe van Heerden  

 
Interim Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, Dominic Wells, Chief

Executive Officer of Onfolio Holdings Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that based on the undersigned’s knowledge:

 

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies

with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

 

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 /s/ Dominic Wells  

  Dominic Wells  

 
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, Rob te Braake,

InterimEsbe van Heerden, Chief Financial Officer of Onfolio Holdings Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that based on the undersigned’s

knowledge:

 

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2023September 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies

with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

 

Date: August 11, 2023November 14, 2023 /s/ Rob te BraakeEsbe van Heerden  
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Rob te Braake

InterimEsbe van Heerden Chief Financial Officer
 

  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
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